MINUTES of a meeting of the COMMUNITY Scrutiny Committee held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Coalville on WEDNESDAY, 7 September 2022

Present: Councillor J Hoult (Chairman)

Councillors R L Morris, C C Benfield, J Clarke (Substitute for Councillor A J Bridgen), T Eynon, J Geary, M D Hay, G Hoult, J G Simmons and M B Wyatt

In Attendance: Councillors J Legrys and S Sheahan

Officers: Mr J Arnold, Mr A Barton, Ms R Haynes, Mr J Knight, Stevens, Mrs R Wallace, Miss E Warhurst and Mr P Wheatley

52. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Councillor A Bridgen.

53. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

Councillors C Benfield, T Eynon, J Geary, Hay and Morris declared that they had entered conversations with public organisations and residents in relation to item 3 – Former Hermitage Leisure Centre Building Future Direction, however maintained an open mind.

Councillor M B Wyatt declared a registerable interest in item 3 - Former Hermitage Leisure Centre Building Future Direction as member of Whitwick Parish Council.

54. FORMER HERMITAGE LEISURE CENTRE BUILDING FUTURE DIRECTION

The Chair welcomed Members to the meeting and due to the complex nature of the item, explained the process to be followed. Reference was made to the petition received as detailed within the report and it was noted that in accordance with the petition scheme, as the lead petitioner was not in attendance, the matter would not be considered at the meeting.

The Chair invited Ms S Colledge, Whitwick Parish Councillor, to address the committee in relation to the Parish Council's submission detailed within the report and additional papers. She expressed concerns that as a significant stakeholder, Whitwick Parish Council were not involved early enough in the consultation process. The Committee were reminded that the Hermitage Leisure Centre was designated as an Asset of Community Value following the applications from Whitwick Parish Council and it was concerning to see the proposed demolition of the site coming forward. Members were referred to the additional papers which detailed alternative proposals from Whitwick Parish Council for community ownership of the building. Members were asked to give this alternative proposal a chance and if it was not viable after two years, the Council could take the asset back and nothing would be lost. The Committee were urged to support and recommend Whitwick Parish Council's proposals to Cabinet.

The Chair invited the Committee to ask any questions of Ms Colledge and the following responses were received:

- It was estimated that it would take approximately two years to establish the Community Ownership Fund and to have the building successfully operational.
- Whitwick Parish Council understood that it was the structural building that had been listed as an Asset of Community Value rather than the land as detailed within the report.

- The £2million costs proposed by CBRE within the report were concerning when compared to the lower £80,000 costs proposed by Whitwick Parish Council. Both proposals were prepared by highly respected local companies.
- The accuracy of the report was questionable as Whitwick Parish Council claimed to have evidence that the building construction dates were incorrect.
- In relation to the suggested lack of consultation with Whitwick Parish Council, Ms Colledge explained that officers were regularly asked for updates as it was a standing item on the parish monthly meeting agenda and was told that there were no updates or progress. The parish council were not involved in the consultation until the community feedback event.

The Chair invited Mr R Woodward, representative of the Whitwick Action Group, to address the Committee. He highlighted the work of the group in recent years to protect the green wedge in Whitwick from development, this included campaigning, lobbying, planning appeals and judicial reviews which had all been successful. He reminded Members that the development of the new leisure centre meant the loss of some of the green wedge and therefore the Whitwick Action Group were opposed to any development on the former Hermitage Leisure Centre site and requested that the land be retained as part of the green wedge and protected for leisure use only. He felt that any development would set a dangerous precedent and urged the Committee to not make the mistake of supporting the draft Cabinet recommendations to demolish a much-needed community asset.

The Chair invited the Committee to ask any questions of Mr Woodward and the following responses were received:

- The Whitwick Action Group understood that it was the structural building that had been listed as an Asset of Community Value rather than the land as detailed within the report. Mr Woodward felt that community should be given the option to use the building.
- In relation to the site access, it was Mr Woodward's opinion that the current access would make it easier to develop the rest of the green wedge.
- It was Mr Woodward's opinion that importance was not being placed on protecting the green wedge but rather on building houses.
- Mr Woodward defended his statement that the situation had changed dramatically as it had been agreed to not develop the green wedge and the proposal was now to build housing.

The Head of Property and Regeneration presented the report to Members.

Members asked several questions of clarity and received answers on the following matters:

- There was not an original design brief which stated the lifespan of the building but it was confirmed that 30-years was the usual lifespan for a leisure building such as the former Hermitage Leisure centre.
- Separating the leases for the building and the land so that the building could be gifted to the Parish Council was problematic due to the legalities involved. It also meant the loss of control of a Council asset.
- Members were referred to the breakdown of costings as detailed within the additional papers and a full explanation was given on options of both full and partial demolition, and the difficulties involved in partial demolition.

- An explanation was given on the process taken to get to the current position in accordance with the Asset Management Policy. Members were informed that the Asset of Community Value would not be triggered as the land was not being disposed of.
- In relation to the covenant on the site to protect the land for leisure use only, officers confirmed that this only included the land surrounding the building and a small part of the building footprint. Therefore, this would be retained for leisure use.
- There was no legal reason why the costs for demolition and clearing of the site could not be funded by the Coalville Regeneration budget provision. It was also deemed appropriate as the service to be delivered on the site would benefit residents across the district.

During discussion on the current state of the building, reference was made to the recent site visit with several Members believing that the dry side of the building was still structurally sound and watertight. The poor condition of the wet pool side was acknowledged however, therefore some Members were of the opinion that the best option would be partial demolition to retain a building that could be used by the community.

At the request of a Member, the Head of Property and Regeneration agreed to provide the full cost to the council for the structural report provided by CBRE, outside of the meeting to all Committee Members.

A Member raised concerns that the cost estimations within the report could be too low due to the cladding on the building. It was also queried as to why the Whitwick Parish Council should take ownership when it was a wider community asset.

Some Members felt that the economic case was a strong one and it was difficult to agree any other remediation. It was felt that it would be better financially to build a new community building that would meet all regulations, carbon targets and community needs, rather than retaining an uneconomical building.

Members acknowledged the views of the speakers in attendance at the meeting and appreciated their objections as they agreed there was a need for a leisure building in Whitwick. The Head of Property and Regeneration concurred with the need for a leisure facility as this was something he was working on in relation to the regeneration of the area, however it was important to look at the long-term future and that was not with an old building that was unfit for purpose.

Reference was made to the monthly costs to the council to maintain the building in its current state, as it calculated as approximately £450 per day. A request was made to receive a more detailed breakdown of these costs. The Head of Property and Regeneration summarized that the headline costs were for security, maintenance/repairs and business rates provision, however he would provide a detailed breakdown to Members outside of the meeting.

A discussion was had on the site in relation to how it fit into the green wedge and the Council's Local Plan. It was noted that the footprint of the building did not form part of the green wedge and was not included under Local Plan Policy.

It was commented that although the points in relation to the leisure covenant on the land and the appropriation of the asset were technically correct, it did not make it any easier for the public to agree and caused frustration. A Member challenged the opinion that the partial demolition was unviable when the Council would still have an asset worth an estimated £750,000 once completed. It was suggested that there were other ways to hand over the building to the community, such as a partial demolition and then rather than gifting the building, a peppercorn rent be offered for a specific amount of time to allow funds to be raised before establishing a formal lease agreement. It was felt that too much emphasis had been placed on receiving as much money as possible for this asset and it would be a shame for the community to miss out due to financial reasons. The Strategic Director for Housing and Customer Services reminded Members that it was a statutory responsibility to achieve the highest funds available from a council asset.

In relation to the draft recommendations to Cabinet, a Member felt that it was hard to support recommendation 4 due to the appropriation of the site from the General Fund to the Housing Revenue Account, this was deemed inappropriate.

At the request of a Member further clarification was provided on the accounting and appropriation process, in particular how the debt involved was balanced. There was concern that it could mean less money for maintaining the housing stock, but the Strategic Director assured Members that was not the case as the income stream from developing the site would offset the debt.

A Member raised concerns that two major stakeholder groups within the community seemed to have been ignored during the consultation process and it was clear that the public believed that decisions had already been made regardless of the outcome of the consultations. The business case for the proposed option of demolition was also questioned as the draft recommendations to Cabinet were asking for approval before business cases had been received. The Strategic Director for Housing and Customer Services assured Members that the correct procedure had been followed and a preliminary business case had been produced to show that the proposals were viable. It was the finer details that would now be worked through and included in the full business case, as was usual practice.

Councillor J Geary proposed that the committee recommend to Cabinet that the former leisure centre building be retained and leased out to be used as a community asset. It was seconded by Councillor M B Wyatt.

At the request of a Member the meeting was adjourned at 8.13pm and reconvened at 8.20pm.

Further discussion was had on the motion in front of Members, and some comments were made in reference to the difficulty in separating the land and the building for leasing.

A Member reminded the Committee that they were considering a building that was no longer fit for purpose which was a drain on council funds, it was his opinion that retaining the building was not the right action to take as it was the Members duty to protect the public funds.

The following amended motion, agreed by Councillor J Geary as proposer and Councillor M B Wyatt as seconder was put to the vote:

'Along with the comments made by the Committee, a recommendation be made to Cabinet that phase 3 of the former Hermitage Leisure Centre building be retained as a community asset and gifted with the lease of the land to a charitable group.'

A recorded vote being requested, voting was as detailed below:

Along with the comments made by the Committee, a recommendation be made to Cabinet that phase 3 of the former Hermitage Leisure Centre building be retained as a community asset and gifted with the lease of the land to a charitable group. (Motion)	
Councillor Jim Hoult	Against
Councillor Ray Morris	Against
Councillor Carl Benfield	For
Councillor John Clarke	Against
Councillor Dr Terri Eynon	For
Councillor John Geary	For
Councillor Michael Hay	For
Councillor Gill Hoult	Against
Councillor Jenny Simmons	Against
Councillor Michael Wyatt	For
Councillor Jim Hoult	Against (Casting Vote)
Rejected	

Following a discussion on the voting procedure, the Head of Legal and Commercial Services confirmed that as the officers' recommendations were to provide comments on the report and draft Cabinet recommendations, the Committee did not have to come to a consensus, all comments would be noted and presented to Cabinet.

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm

The Chairman closed the meeting at 8.33 pm